D
SID	3. WV	HITE	
MAY	17	1996	
			Tellion

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

OURI CLERK, By\_ Chief Deputy Olerk

FLOYD	W.	DAMREN,	)	
		Appellant,	)	CASE NO.: 86,003
vs.			).	LOWER CASE NO.: 94-537-CF
STATE	OF	FLORIDA,	)	
		Appellee.	)	
			 _)	

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Clay County, Florida

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA J. SOPP ATTORNEY AT LAW 211 N. Liberty Street, Suite Two Jacksonville, Florida 32202-2800 Florida Bar No. 265934

(904) 350-6677

Attorney for Appellant

####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record herein will be "R" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter. References to the transcripts of trial, penalty phase and sentencing will be "T" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

## **ISSUE I:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING EVIDENCE OF SIMILAR ACTS OR OTHER CRIMES TO BE PRESENTED AT THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

#### **ISSUE II:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE STANDARD <u>WILLIAMS</u> RULE INSTRUCTION WHEN EVIDENCE OF PRIOR SIMILAR ACTS OR CRIMES WAS ADMITTED AGAINST DEFENDANT

### **ISSUE III:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S REMARKS IN GUILT PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT REGARDING THE INTOXICATION DEFENSE

#### **ISSUE IV:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING "VICTIM IMPACT" EVIDENCE AT THE PENALTY PHASE

#### **ISSUE V:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING HEARSAY TESTIMONY AS TO OUR-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF JEFF CHITTAM

#### **ISSUE VI:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL

#### **ISSUE VII:**

THE EVIDENCE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER

## **ISSUE VIII:**

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REJECTING OR IN ASSIGNING ONLY SLIGHT OR LITTLE WEIGHT TO THE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS WHICH APPELLANT PROVED

## **ISSUE IX:**

THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IN THIS CAUSE IS NOT PROPORTIONATE WITH THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IN OTHER CASES

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Floyd William Damren, was indicted for first-degree murder, armed burglary, and aggravated assault by the Clay County Grand Jury on May 10, 1994. (R-7). The indictment alleged that Damren committed first-degree murder of Donald Miller with premeditated design, and that Damren had burglarized Miller's place of business, R.G.C. Minerals Sands [sic] with the intent to commit the offense of battery therein, and finally, charged that Damren assaulted one Michael Knight with a metal pipe. (R-7).

Trial counsel filed the following motions as to the death penalty:

(1) Motion to declare section 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, unconstitutional as applied because of arbitrariness in jury overrides and sentencing.

(2) Motion for special verdict (R-63).

(3) Motion for statement of aggravating circumstances (R-72).

(4) Motion to dismiss and to declare sections 782.04 and 921.141, <u>Florida Statues</u>, unconstitutional for a variety of reasons. (R-76).

(5) Motion to declare section 782.04 and 921.141, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional, because of treatment of mitigating circumstances. (R-92).

(6) Motion to declare section 921.141 and 922.10, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional because electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment. (R-97).

(7) Motion for evidentiary hearing, and for payment of fees

and costs of expert and lay witnesses, on the constitutionality of death by electrocution. (R-112).

(8) Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(h), <u>Florida Statues</u>,unconstitutional. (R-124).

(9) Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(i), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, unconstitutional. (R-142).

(10) Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(d), <u>Florida Statues</u>, unconstitutional. (R-170).

(11) Motion for evidentiary hearing and for payment of fees and costs of expert witnesses on the constitutionality of death qualifications. (R-180).

(12) Motion to prohibit misleading references to the advisory role of the jury at sentencing. (R-185).

(13) Motion to prohibit impeachment of defendant by prior criminal convictions, or, in the alternative, to impanel a new penalty phase jury. (R-188).

(14) Motion to prohibit argument and/or instructions concerning first-degree murder. (R-192).

(15) Motion to prohibit instruction on aggravating factors5(h) and 5(i). (R-197).

(16) Motion to preclude death qualifications of jurors in the innocence or guilt phase of the trial and to utilize a bifurcated jury, if a penalty phase is necessary. (R-200).

Trial counsel also filed a motion to incur costs of expert witnesses, seeking the court to approve the expense of retaining Dr. Robert T. M. Phillips, of the American Psychiatric Association.

(R-223). Trial counsel also filed a motion to suppress pre-trial photo identification and in-court identification [of appellant] by witness Mike Knight. (R-253). Appellant also filed a motion to prohibit pre-sentence investigation report. (R-268).

On May 5, 1995, the prosecution filed a notice of other crimes, wrongs, or acts evidence, pursuant to section 90.402 and 90.404(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u>. The state sought to introduce the following evidence:

FLOYD WILLIAM DAMREN on or between the dates of the 18th day of April, 1994, and the 20th day of April, 1994, in the County of Clay, and the State of Florida, did unlawfully enter or remain in a conveyance, to-wit: motor vehicle, the property of Sun Electric, with the intent to commit an offense therein, to-wit: theft, contrary to the provisions of section 810.02, Florida Statutes.

FLOYD WILLIAM DAMREN on or between the 18th day of April, 1994, and the 20th day of April, 1994, in the County of Clay, and the State of Florida, did knowingly obtain or use or endeavor to obtain or use a generator and other tools, the value of \$300.00 or more, but less than \$20,000.00, the property of Sun Electric, with intent to either temporarily or permanently deprive Sun Electric of a right to the property or benefit therefrom, or with the intent to appropriate the property to his own use or to the use of any person not entitled thereto, contrary to the provisions of Section 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes.

(R-318). Appellant filed a motion in limine as to the similar fact evidence and a motion to prohibit the use of this <u>Williams</u> Rule evidence, or, in the alternative to empanel a new penalty phase jury. (R-264-71).

Hearing on the notice of similar acts was actually held before opening statements; counsel for each party agreed to refrain from

mentioning the prior act in their opening statements. (T-348-57). After the conclusion of opening statements, further hearing was held, and the court ruled that the evidence of the prior theft from Sun Electric was "inextricably intertwined" with the events for which appellant was on trial, and was also relevant to the intoxication defense. (T-376). The defense motion in limine was denied, and the court permitted the state to introduce the similar fact evidence. (T-376).

During closing argument, the defense objected to the prosecutor's statements that "intoxication can be a defense if you cannot form a mental state . . . ," and "[h]how drunk would you have to be not to know you've committed a murder or a burglary?" (T-667; T-668). The trial court overruled the objection. (T-669). Appellant was convicted of first-degree murder, armed burglary of a structure, and aggravated assault. (R-415-17).

#### PENALTY PHASE

On May 18, 1995, the penalty phase of the trial was held. (T-715). The state indicated its intention to introduce victim impact evidence (T-719); and the defense filed a motion to exclude evidence or argument designed to create sympathy for the deceased. (R-282). The defense also filed a requested instruction on victim filed counsel Defense impact evidence. (T-726; R-686). requested penalty phase jury instructions (R-651), and an additional proposed instruction regarding the "heinous, atrocious, (R-681). The defense also requested and cruel" instruction. special instructions on the definition of "cold, calculated, and

pre-meditated, "doubling, and on victim impact evidence. (R-684, 685, 686).

The state presented written statements of the wife and of the daughter of the victim Donald Miller. (T-729; R-421-22). The defense objected to the admission of these statements in any form; after the court overruled this objection, the defense made specific objections to various portions of each statement. (T-730). The trial court denied the defense motion to exclude all of the victim impact evidence, but did modify the statements pursuant to defense request. (T-734). Amended statements of Donald Miller's wife and daughter were read to the jury. (T-831-37; R-423-24).

Prior to the introduction of penalty phase evidence, the state proffered evidence in support of its claimed aggravating factors. The state sought to introduce through in-court testimony the outof-court statements of Jeffrey Chittam in support of its contention that the homicide had been heinous, atrocious and cruel and that the homicide had been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (T-740). The state set forth the proffered statements in a memorandum, claiming the following statements were attributable to Chittam:

> Floyd and I went down to the mines tonight and Floyd hurt someone. Jeff said he was peeing on a locker when the man walked up and asked Jeff what he was doing. Floyd came up from behind the man with a metal pipe in his hand and at some point in time hit the man and knocked him to the ground.

> The victim then started begging for them to let him go. Floyd started pacing back and

forth and Jeff was telling the man to get up. Jeff heard the victim's name over the intercom and the victim said "Hey that's me." During the time the victim was on the ground the victim told them that he was going on vacation and was going to take his grandson fishing.

Jeff stated that he, Jeff, begged Floyd to let the victim go. At some point in time someone else came up and Jeff told Floyd there's someone else and Floyd started chasing him. Jeff then ran out the building and across the pipe into the woods. Floyd later got the truck and picked Jeff up down the railroad tracks.

(R-678). The defense stipulated to the existence of the aggravating factor of conviction of prior crime of violence, and to the aggravator of pecuniary gain and felony murder. (T-737-38).

During the penalty phase closing argument of the state, defense counsel objected to the following comment by the prosecutor:

> What has happened to this once great family must be considered in determining Floyd Damren's personal responsibility and guilt, his blameworthiness.

After deliberation, the jury returned an advisory verdict for imposition of the death penalty. (R-694).

Defendant filed a motion for new penalty phase hearing (R-711), which was denied on May 25, 1995. (R-718).

Appellant was sentenced to death on the charge of first-degree murder, to a term of natural life on the charge of armed burglary, and to ten years for the offense of aggravated assault.<sup>1</sup> (R-779). The trial court determined the following aggravating circumstances

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Appellant was sentenced as a habitual offender on the second and third counts.

to exist in support of its imposition of the death penalty:

(1) the defendant has been previously convicted of a felony involving the threat of violence to some person;

(2) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged, or was an accomplice, in the commission or attempted commission of the crime of armed burglary, and was committed for financial gain;

(3) the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel;

(4) the crime for which defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R-789-91).

In its sentencing order, the trial court summarized the mitigating circumstances presented by appellant. (R-791). The trial court rejected most of the mitigating circumstances presented by defendant. Those to which the trial court gave no weight were:

- (a) alcohol impaired Mr. Damren's judgment and thinking before he went to R.G.C.;
- (b) alcohol impaired Mr. Damren's judgment and thinking when he and Jeff Chittam were at R.G.C.;
- (c) Mr. Damren suffered emotional deprivation and little parental support as a child;
- (d) Mr. Damren has held jobs and has performed well in his work;
- (e) Mr. Damren has been kind to his mother, sister, and brother;

- (f) Mr. Damren has shown patience with and affection for children;
- (g) Mr. Damren has been a generous and devoted friend who has gone out of his way to do things for his friends;
- (h) Mr. Damren served his country in the United States Army and in Vietnam;
- Mr. Damren maintained a relationship with Nancy Waldrup and treated Tessa Mosley like a daughter.

(R-791-96).

The trial court gave "little weight" to the following circumstances:

- (a) The burglary did not involve a sophisticated plan or a preconceived plan to use weapons or violence;
- (b) Mr. Damren did not act alone and the exact role of each accomplice is not clear;
- (c) Mr. Damren has an alcoholic father and has suffered with his own alcohol problem;

(R-791-94). Finally, the court gave "some weight" to the fact that Mr. Damren exhibited good behavior in the Clay County Jail during the past year. (R-794-95).

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal. (R-820).

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At 8:30 p.m. on May 1, 1994, Michael Knight was making his rounds at the R.G.C. Mineral Sands Company in Clay County, Florida. (T-380). Knight was a shift supervisor in charge of production control and plant security at the mining facility located off U.S. Highway 17. (T-379). After Knight checked the pumping area, he went to the electrical shop in the maintenance barn to look for Don Miller. (T-382-83). Miller had been paged about an hour previously to respond to a machinery problem, but had failed to respond to the page. (T-382).

Knight entered the electrical shop, looking for Miller. (T-383). When Knight opened the door he heard a "pipe sound hit the floor, a pipe sound come from the floor. . . " (T-383). Knight opened the door to his immediate right, took two or three steps in, looked up and saw a man "holding Don's right britches -- his left britches leg." (T-384). Knight was about thirty to thirty-five feet away from Miller at that point. (T-384). Knight could only see Miller's lower trunk (from the waist down) at that time. (T-384).

The upper trunk of Donald Miller's body was obscured from Knight's view because it was blocked by a milling lathe. (T-402). Knight testified that although Miller was not being dragged, the man who had a hold of his "britches" leg looked like he had been dragging him. (T-384). Knight did not know whether the individual he saw who appeared to have been dragging Miller had been striking Miller prior to Knight's calling out. (T-385).

Knight hollered, "What are you doing?" and the man turned and reached up with his right hand. (T-385). Knight testified that the man had a brown-colored object in his left hand and that the man picked up a piece of galvanized steel pipe in his right hand, and then started at Knight. (T-385). Knight testified he had been about eight feet inside the door at this point in time. (T-385). Knight turned and ran, and did not see anything after he ran out the door. (T-388). Knight testified that when he had arrived in the electrical shop, he had seen tools that were normally kept in lockers with padlocks on them which had been left out in the open. (T-403-04). Knight also testified a battery charger had been left outside the building; this battery charger would normally have been stored inside the shop. (T-403). Knight also testified that a Snap-On tool chest had been left open, although it was normally secured and locked. (T-406-07).

Knight admitted that if there had been a second person hidden behind the milling lathe, that he would not have been able to see that person, standing by Miller's upper torso. (T-414). Knight also admitted that he did not see any blows land on Miller, and could not say who actually had battered Miller. (T-415).

Knight testified that he recognized the man holding Miller's britches as Floyd Damren. He testified Damren had lived in his same neighborhood since childhood. (T-389-90).

Dr. Margarita Arruza, the associate medical examiner for the Fourth Judicial Circuit, testified that she had conducted an autopsy upon Donald Miller. (T-425). Dr. Arruza testified that

Miller had suffered a minimum of seven blows to his face (T-435), and three blows to the back of his head. (T-436). Dr. Arruza opined that each of the three wounds to the back of Miller's head and as well the "big chopping wound to his face and skull," would have been sufficient to cause a loss of consciousness. (T-436). Dr. Arruza testified that Miller had defensive wounds on his arms and hands. (T-425-31). Dr. Arruza testified that of the ten or so total blows to Donald Miller's body, that only the three to the back of the head and the one across the forehead would have been fatal. (T-441). Dr. Arruza testified that the cause of Donald Miller's death was "cranial cerebral injuries." (T-441).

Wendy Leigh Hedley testified that on May 1, 1994, she was living in a mobile home located on Warner Road, within a couple of miles of the R.G.C. mine operation in Clay County. (T-449). Hedley testified that on May 1, 1994, she had received a telephone call at her mother's house from Jeff Chittam around 7:30 or 8:00 o'clock in the evening. (T-448). Hedley testified that during this telephone conversation with Jeff Chittam she could tell that Floyd Damren was with him. (T-449). Hedley testified that she returned to her mobile home some thirty to forty minutes later. (T-448; T-450).

Hedley testified she returned to her mobile home around 9:00 p.m., and that Floyd Damren, Jeff Chittam, and Tessa Mosley (her stepsister) were at the trailer. (T-451-52). Hedley testified that at some point after returning to her trailer, she and Jeff Chittam had a conversation in the bathroom. (T-452). Hedley

testified that Jeff Chittam was "scared and acting nervous," and was crying a lot during the evening. (T-453). Hedley testified that Jeff Chittam told her that he and Floyd Damren had done something wrong, something "real bad." (T-453).

Hedley testified that she subsequently confronted Floyd Damren, who appeared to be a little more calm, and that at first Damren acted as if he didn't know what she had been talking about. (T-454). According to Hedley, Damren ultimately said that "I didn't do it, Jeff did." (T-454). Hedley testified that Floyd Damren had said that he could get the electric chair. (T-454). Hedley testified that she had seen Damren drink close to a twelvepack of beer from 9:00 o'clock until midnight on that evening. (T-456). Hedley testified that Damren did not appear to be drunk when he left her trailer. (T-457-58).

## WILLIAMS RULE EVIDENCE

Over objection by the defense, Hedley was permitted to testify about a prior incident which occurred on the property of R.G.C. Mines. (T-459-63). Hedley testified that about two weeks before, she had ridden with Floyd Damren down a dirt road onto the property belonging to the mining operation. (T-460). Hedley testified that at that time, Floyd had gotten out of the truck and gotten onto a bigger truck. (T-460). According to Hedley, Floyd had taken some property from the bigger truck. (T-460). Hedley also testified that Floyd said that "there was some good stuff, some more good stuff down there I'd like to get." (T-463).

Prior to trial, the state filed a notice of similar fact

evidence, seeking to introduce this testimony of Wendy Hedley regarding Damren's prior theft from Sun Electric. (R-318). In opposition to the introduction of this evidence, trial counsel introduced depositions of Wendy Hedley, Tessa Mosley, and Joann (R-513-89; R-590-630; R-631-50). Waldrup. Wendy Hedley had previously testified in deposition that after an argument with her boyfriend, Damren had offered to take her for a ride in his truck. (R-573). According to Hedley, she and Damren went "down a dirt road that led to the mines." (R-573). Hedley testified that she and Damren had been "going down the dirt road and talking about the woods and everything and then we ended up at the mines." (R-573). Hedley testified that they had "come up between some woods and some railroad tracks, . . . when we pulled up there was a truck." (R-574).

According to Hedley, it was still light out at the time she and Damren had pulled up to this truck on the prior occasion, but she did not know what day of the week it had been. (R-575).

Hedley continued to testify at deposition regarding the prior incident. She testified that Damren "got on the truck," . . . and that "he was getting things off the truck." (R-578). According to Hedley, Damren took tools, and a generator or an air compressor. (R-579). She testified that the object was "really big and heavy." (R-579).

On deposition, Wendy Hedley testified that at some point in time, Floyd Damren had told her "that there was some real good stuff down there [at the mines] that he would like to get." (R-

584). Hedley could not remember whether it was the same day that Damren had previously stolen the generator. (R-584).

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