## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

4178 119 1996

FLOYD W. DAMREN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 86,003

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR. NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

210, 215-16 (Fla. 1984) (defensive wounds and seven claw hammer wounds to victim's head supported HAC).

The trial court's HAC finding is amply supported by the record and by this Court's case law.

#### ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THIS MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED; EVEN IF THIS FINDING WAS ERROR, HOWEVER, IT WAS HARMLESS

The evidence presented at the penalty phase, primarily through the statements of Jeff Chittam, established the CCP aggravator. At Damren's suggestion, he and Jeff Chittam went to the mines to steal (TR 797). While Jeff was urinating on a locker, the victim walked up and asked him what he was doing. Damren "came up from behind" and hit the victim with a steel pipe (TR 798). The victim fell, still conscious. As Damren pace back and forth, the victim begged Damren not to hurt him. He told Damren that he planned to go on vacation the next day and to take his grandson fishing (TR 799, 816). At some point, the victim was paged over a loudspeaker; he told Damren and Chittam, "That's me" (TR 799). Jeff told Damren not to hit the victim any more, that they should just go (TR 800, 824). Damren told Jeff to shut up or he would hurt him too (TR 816). Jeff said he got scared and ran away (TR 800, 816, 824).

This testimony, coupled with that of Michael Knight, who saw Damren beating the victim after he had dragged him inside the building, and that of Dr. Arruza, who testified that the fatal wounds followed the administration of numerous nonfatal wounds which would not have caused unconsciousness, supports the trial judge's CCP finding (R 790-91).

Gamble contends the evidence does not show calm and cool reflection or heightened premeditation because the statements of Jeff Chittam were inadmissible and because there is no evidence that Damren went to the mines intending to kill someone. The State has addressed the admissibility of Jeff Chittam's statements previously, and would maintain that they were properly admitted and considered. As for when Damren formed the intent to kill, the State Attorney acknowledged in his guilt-phase closing argument that "I don't think there's any evidence they went there to kill Donald Miller" (TR 645). The State's sentencing-phase argument was that, after being confronted by the victim, Damren nevertheless had ample time to coldly and calculatedly reflect on his actions and that heightened premeditation existed (TR 934-35).

The trial judge's finding of the CCP aggravator was based on the evidence that after Damren struck the first blow, he paced and contemplated the situation, reflecting on his next course of action while both Jeff Chittam and the victim begged Damren not to hurt the victim any further. Despite their pleadings, Damren deliberately and ruthlessly resumed his attack on the victim after a period of contemplation. These circumstances, the trial court found, supported a finding that this murder was cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 790-91).

There are four elements that must exist to establish CCP. The first is that the killing was the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage. Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994). Here, the defendant did not even claim any loss of emotional control. This is not a case in which a defendant was surprised during the commission of a crime and killed the victim before he had time to think. Here, as in Walls, the "calm and deliberate nature" of Damren's actions establish this element beyond any reasonable doubt.

The second element is that the murder must be the product of a careful plan or prearranged design to commit the murder before the "fatal incident." Walls, supra at 388 (citing Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994). In Walls, this element was found where the defendant left one victim, weapon in hand, and returned

to the other victim, whom he had previously bound and gagged. At the point where Walls left the first victim's body, this Court found, Walls 'obviously had formed a 'prearranged design' to kill" the second victim, a conclusion reinforced by the time it took for him to kill her. <u>Ibid</u>. Although Damren may originally have gone to the mines intending only to commit a burglary, the circumstances of this case show that after striking the victim, Damren listened to his pleas and those of Jeff Chittam, carefully considered his course of action, and formed a prearranged design to kill the victim. He then ruthlessly resumed his attack.

Third, CCP requires heightened premeditation. The fact that Damren killed the victim after listening to both the victim and Jeff Chittam beg Damren not to hurt the victim demonstrates the kind of "deliberate ruthlessness" that supports the element of heightened premeditation. Bonifay v. State, 21 Fla. Law Weekly S301 (Fla. July 11, 1996); Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 (Fla. 1994); Walls v. State. Supra at 388. "The lengthy nature of the crime also goes to the heightened premeditation necessary to establish this aggravating factor." Fennie v. State. 648 So.2d 95, 99 (Fla. 1994). The fact that Damren had ample time to reflect on his actions and their attendant consequences "is compelling evidence of the heightened level of premeditation required to

establish the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator."

Foster v. State, 654 So.2d 112, 115 (Fla. 1995) (the several minutes that elapsed between concealing the victim's body and inflicting mortal wound gave defendant "ample time to reflect on his actions and their attendant consequences." and was "compelling evidence" of heightened premeditation).

As for the last CCP factor, there is no contention, let alone any evidence, that Damren had even a pretense of moral or legal justification for murdering Donald Miller. <u>Walls V. State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 388.

The time Damren had to plan and to reflect on this killing, coupled with the ruthless manner in which he committed it, demonstrate that Damren murdered the victim in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Where there is a legal basis for finding an aggravator, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Therefore, the trial court's CCP finding should be affirmed. Nevertheless, should this Court disagree with any of the foregoing, and decide that the trial court erred by finding CCP, any error would be harmless. Striking CCP would leave three valid aggravators: HAC, prior violent felony conviction and the combined burglary/pecuniary gain aggravator (the last two of which Damren

does not even contest). Damren did not even urge the existence of any statutory mitigation, and most of his proposed nonstatutory mitigation (TR 708-09) was either not supported by the evidence or was entitled to little weight. Damren is normally intelligent, has no physical or psychological problems, and was not physically or sexually abused as a child. The evidence fails to demonstrate any significant impairment from alcohol intoxication at the time of the crime. Given the presence of three strong aggravators, the lack of significant mitigation, and the jury's unanimous recommendation of death, there is no reasonable likelihood that Damren would have received a life sentence if the CCP aggravator had not been considered. Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 104-05 (Fla. 1996) (no reasonable likelihood of different sentence where striking an aggravator left two aggravators to be weighed against one statutory mitigator and three nonstatutory mitigators); Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685, 697 (Fla. 1995) (no likelihood of different sentence when eliminating CCP left five aggravators to be weighed against minimal So.2d 95, mitigation); Fennie v. state. 648 (eliminating CCP harmless because the totality of aggravating factors and the lack of significant mitigation conclusively demonstrate that death is the appropriate penalty); Pietri v State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1354 (Fla. 1994) (striking CCP left

three aggravators and, even if trial court had found mitigation, there was no reasonable likelihood of a different sentence); Castro v, State, 644 So.2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994) (error in finding CCP was harmless where three other aggravators existed, including HAC, against weak case for mitigation); Wvatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three remaining aggravators "far outweigh" mitigation); Peterka v. State, 640 So.2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against a lack of significant criminal history); Stein v. State, 632 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 1994) (harmless error where four aggravators 1361, remained to be weighed against statutory mitigator); Watts v. <u>State</u>, 593 So.2d 198, 204 (Fla. 1992) (eliminating HAC harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against one statutory mitigator and one nonstatutory mitigator).

# ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED AND EVALUATED EACH NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE PROPOSED BY THE DEFENSE

Here Damren contends that the trial court improperly rejected or improperly assigned insufficient weight to his proposed nonstatutory mitigation. Although his argument in support of this

claim is cryptic to the point of near non-existence, the State will attempt to respond. The State's position is that the trial court carefully considered and expressly evaluated each and every proposed nonstatutory mitigator, as required by this Court's decisions. E.g., Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990).

The court gave little weight to the claimed mitigator that this burglary did not involve a sophisticated plan, because history needed--Damren had that sophistication not had shown was burglarized RCG mines before and had not been caught (R 791). The court also gave little weight to the fact that Damren had not acted alone and the exact role of each accomplice was not clear. record shows, Michael Knight observed Damren deliver at least one of the blows, and no evidence other than Damren's own self-serving The trial statements indicated that Chittam struck any blows. court rejected (gave no weight to) the proposed mitigators relating to alcohol impairment on the ground that there "was no testimony from anyone that [Damren] was impaired in any way" (R 791). On the contrary, the evidence showed that Damren "was able to reflect on all his actions both before and after his visit to R.C.G. Mineral (R 792). See Garcia v. State, 644 So.2d 59, 63 (Fla.

 $<sup>^7</sup>$  These included four proposed mitigators relating to the offense and nine proposed mitigators relating to Damren's life (R 708-09).

1994) ("the trial judge could properly find from the evidence that there was insufficient evidence of intoxication to establish that as a mitigating factor").

As for the proposed mitigation relating to Damren's life, the trial court did find that Damren had an alcoholic father and has suffered with his own alcohol problems. However, as the court explained, Damren's father may have drunk to excess, but he was generally absent on military duty. Damren drinks, but his drinking did not affect his work or his ability to function. Therefore, the court gave "little" weight to this mitigator (R 793).

The court **gave "some"** weight to Damren's good behavior in jail following his arrest (R 795).

The trial court gave 'no weight" to the proposed mitigators that Damren suffered emotional deprivation and little parental support as a child, has held jobs and performed well in his work, has been kind to his family, has shown patience with and affection for children, has been a generous and devoted friend, served his country in Vietnam, and has maintained a relationship with Nancy Waldrup and her daughter (R 792-94). As the court explained, Damren's father may have been absent for long periods of time, and his mother may have not been a good disciplinarian, but she did all she could to make a good home. The record shows that Damren was

well-behaved and respectful as a child, and still enjoys a good relationship with his mother and sister. As the trial court noted, his relationship with his mother "belies, in part, his claim of little parental support as a child" (R 793). As for his acts of friendship, the court explained that they were "commendable, but it is hyperbole to label them 'generous' and 'devoted'" (R 794). Damren's Vietnam experience was too remote in time, the court thought, to mitigate the offense (R 794).

After specifically addressing each of the proposed mitigators, the trial court summed up his findings:

The circumstances relating to the offense presented by the defense offer little, if any, mitigation. The circumstances relating to the defendant's life do not constitute mitigation. They demonstrate a life remarkably absent of good deeds, except for a few isolated, sporadic and uneventful acts of kindness that collectively do not rise to the level of mitigation. An empty, non-productive and vacuous existence is not an excuse for criminal behavior and cannot justify or ameliorate the act of the defendant in murdering Donald Miller. [R 7951

As this Court has noted, there are "no hard and fast rules about what must be found in mitigation in any particular case . . . . Because each case is unique, determining what evidence might mitigate each individual defendant's sentence must remain with the trial court's discretion." Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Accord, Atkins v. Singletary, 965 F.2d 952, 962 (11th Cir.

1992) ("Acceptance of nonstatutory mitigating factors is not constitutionally required; the Constitution only requires that the sentencer consider the factors.") .8 The trial court carefully considered all the evidence presented in mitigation, along with all of the nonstatutory mitigation proposed by the defense (R 788). The decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and the weight to be given to it if it is established, are matters within the trial court's discretion. Bonifav v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S301 (Fla. July 11, 1996). So long as the trial court considers all of the evidence, its "determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Foster v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S324, S327 (Fla. July 18, 1996). Accord, Cook v. State, 542 So. 2d 964, 971 (Fla. 1984); Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1989); Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983). Damren's sentencing order was sufficient to allow adequate appellate review. Sims v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly \$320, \$323 (Fla. July 18, 1996). This Court is 'able to conduct an

See, also, Burger v. Kemp. 483 U.S. 776, 794, 107 S.Ct. 3114, 97 L.Ed.2d 638 (1987) (quoting with approval 11th Circuit's observation that "mitigation may be in the eye of the beholder"); Tuilaepa v. California, U.S., \_\_\_, S.Ct., \_\_\_, 129 L.Ed.2d 750, 767 (1994) (Souter, J. concurring) ("refusing to characterize ambiguous evidence as mitigating or aggravating is . . . constitutionally permissible")

appropriate proportionality review" in this case "because the order specifies which statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances the trial judge found and the weight he attributed to these circumstances in determining whether to impose a death sentence."

Ibid.

The trial court's rejection of some of Damren's proposed mitigation was not an abuse of discretion. Jones v. St-ate, 652 So.2d 346, 351 (Fla. 1995) (where defendant's mother unable to care for him but left him in care of relatives who could, "court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to find in mitigation that Jones was abandoned by an alcoholic mother"); Sochor v State, 619 So.2d 285, 293 (Fla. 1993) (trial court rejected as mitigating defendant's family history which included alcoholic, hot-tempered and violent father who was at times unable to support his family; held: "Deciding whether such family history establishes mitigating circumstances is within the trial court's discretion."). if this Court were to conclude that some of the proposed mitigation rejected by the trial court should have been given some minimal amount of weight, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court's conclusion that Damren's life is "remarkably absent of good deeds, except for a few isolated, sporadic and uneventful acts of kindness" is surely supported by this record.

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